
BRVA LAND USE AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 
October 28, 2025, 6:00 P.M. 

Northminster Presbyterian Church 
1660 Kessler Blvd. E. Drive 

 
Present: Andrew Baldwin, Anthony Bellamy, Bo Boroski, Rebecca Dodge, Brian 
Gamache, Garrett Lawton, Richard Michal, Tim Oprisu, Sam Rogers, Karen Valiquett, 
Daisy Winkler and Emily Parkins 
 
Guests: Nicole Anderson, Alan Hague, Tyler Hromadka, David Hughey, Chris Zelenak 
 
Bo Boroski, LUD Chairman, called the meeting to order at 6:04 p.m. He explained the 
objectives of the Land Use & Development Committee and the rules of presenting to the 
committee.  Bo also highlighted the LUD’s commitment to responsible development in 
the community, along with the opportunity to create a stronger and more vibrant Broad 
Ripple.  The committee members were also introduced. 
 
Bo asked if there was a motion to approve the minutes from the September 23 meeting. 
Sam made a motion to approve.  Andrew seconded. The minutes were approved 
unanimously.  
 
Bo noted that there was one presentation on the agenda for the evening.   
 
6358 North College Avenue – Nalja Osman Inc.: Nicole Anderson presenting on a  
request for a special exception of the Consolidated Zoning and Subdivision Ordinance  
to provide for the operation of a daycare center, subject to the filed plan of operation 
and a request for a variance of development standards of the Consolidated Zoning and  
Subdivision Ordinance to provide for a five-space parking area (minimum nine spaces  
required). 
Case #2025-SE2-004 – Hearing scheduled for November 18, 2025 
 
Nicole Anderson introduced herself as the Owner and Founder of Smart Sprouts, a 
multilingual, multicultural daycare.  She shared that she started this daycare with her 
business partner, her daughter.  Nicole and her daughter decided they wanted to create 
this daycare because of her commitment to education.  Nicole shared that she comes 
from a family of educators and she always is called back to education.  Nicole is 
currently a faculty member at Indiana University (Bloomington).  Nicole mentioned that, 
having seen the educational system, she wanted to see how she could make an impact 
early on in a child’s life before getting to college.  Nicole shared that she moved to 
China when her daughter was 9 and she saw firsthand how language and culture could 
impact a young learner.  Nicole informed the LUD that what she and her business 
partner have proposed to do in their curriculum and with their operation is to offer their 
curriculum in English, Spanish and Mandarin.  Nicole shared that they want to expose 
their learners to language, as well as to culture through the food served at the daycare 
and the extracurricular activities offered to students.  Nicole indicated they have a goal 
of creating global learners that are exposed to other cultures.  It was highlighted that 



they’ll be taking a Montessori approach, and they’d like to eventually obtain Montessori 
certification.  Nicole plans to hire a Montessori certified instructor, and she intends to 
also go through the process of becoming a Montessori certified instructor. 
 
Nicole stated that this location was selected because she is very familiar with the 
location and has spent a lot of time in Broad Ripple. She has looked at the data to 
identify, in Indiana and in Marion County, where the need is.  Nicole noted that there are 
84,000 children under the age of six in need of care, and currently licensed locations 
have the capacity of 71,000, leaving a gap of 13,000 children needing care.  Further, 
Nicole stated that within a 5-10 mile radius of the location, there are still 250 children in 
need of care.  Nicole added that this location is easy to get to, is in a great location, and 
there is need surrounding the location.  Additionally, the availability shrinks even more 
when the quality of early childhood learning centers is considered.  Nicole emphasized 
they have every intention to pursue the Montessori accreditation but also meet Indiana’s 
PTQ levels (Paths to QUALITY).  Nicole indicated that Smart Sprouts will immediately 
have level 2 certification due to their health and safety plans, food plans, etc.  Nicole 
reiterated that they will be full steam ahead with offering their multilingual, multicultural 
approach and with meeting the state PTQ levels, as well as national accreditation.  She 
underlined how serious they are about bringing quality early childhood education.  She 
noted that they’ve spent a year planning so that, not only can families trust Smart 
Sprouts when they drop their children off, but the children will be getting a quality 
education.  Nicole emphasized that early literacy is a big focus for them as it is 
frustrating hearing about children that come into kindergarten and don’t know their 
ABCs or how to write their name.  Nicole shared that Smart Sprouts wants to elevate 
the educational experience for children.   
 
In addition to having facility centers, Nicole noted they will also have license centers, 
their non-profit arm which is their registered ministries, and their licensed home 
daycares.  The reason they chose to include licensed home daycares within their 
infrastructure is because they know that being available and present the community is 
also helpful for people looking for care.   
 
Nicole noted one other component they are doing as a part of a multilingual approach.  
Smart Sprouts has identified an online partner they can work with.  Therefore, in 
addition to having in-person teachers that can speak Spanish and Mandarin, they’ll 
have an online educator that can come in and provide education and track the students’ 
progress.   
 
Nicole closed by sharing Smart Sprouts is excited to be in Broad Ripple and Nicole 
believes they can bring a lot to the community, including quality care and jobs.  
Additionally, Nicole noted that they plan to have regular daycare hours and summer 
programs and summer camps which will be open to children up to the age of 12. 
 
Bo thanked Nicole for the detailed information and asked if any of the LUD members 
had questions for Nicole. 
 



Tim asked if Smart Sprouts is the only tenant in the building.  Nicole noted that she 
would be the only tenant.  Tim asked about parking at the property and stated it appears 
that there are 10-12 parking spots behind the building.  Tim also asked how many 
employees Smart Sprouts expects to have.  Nicole indicated that six of the parking 
spots would be designated just for Smart Sprouts as spots are still open to other tenants 
in the vicinity of their building.  Nicole also noted they would have four classrooms. 
 
Bo asked how many spaces were specifically attributed to this property. Nicole stated 
that six were given to them and the remaining spaces are available to anyone. 
 
Garrett noted that the Smart Sprouts parcel, the parcel to the north and the parcel to the 
south are all owned by the same entity.  He shared that 18 parking spaces were 
available for all those entities. 
 
Karen requested confirmation that Nicole is seeking a special exception for the 
operation of a daycare center.  Karen also requested confirmation that the current 
zoning is D-7.  Nicole confirmed both items.  Nicole acknowledged they have requested 
the special exception so they can get the state to approve the license.  It was confirmed 
they are seeking the special exception as opposed to a rezone.  Karen indicated that 
they may also need a variance because the minimum number of parking spaces is nine.  
It was noted that they are in the TOD (transit-oriented development) zone, and perhaps 
the number of parking spaces was recalculated for entities in the TOD zone. Nicole 
indicated she was not sure about any of those items, and Karen emphasized that, per 
the zoning ordinance and per the code, they should be required to have nine parking 
spaces.  Karen reiterated that would mean a variance is needed to allow for only 5-6 
parking spaces. 
 
Karen also asked if parents would park and bring their children into the facility, or if it 
would strictly be drop off.  Nicole indicated they’ve explored two options as they do not 
want to create any congestion.  Smart Sprouts has looked at staggered drop off times 
and have looked at apps that could be used where staff goes out to cars to get the 
children.  With an app, there would be security measures in place including an ID check, 
making sure the parent matches the child, etc.  Additionally, staff would be equipped 
with IDs and badging.  Karen asked how many children, at maximum, would be in the 
facility.  Nicole informed the LUD that the state determines the capacity based on the 
square footage, once furniture is in place.  Nicole indicated that, per the state, they must 
have 35 square feet per child.  Nicole estimates that they’d be approved for roughly 35-
40 children. 
 
Rich asked what age group would attend the daycare.  Nicole informed the group they 
would primarily operate with 2-5-year-olds.  She also indicated that any after school 
programming would be for 6-12-year-olds.  Nicole mentioned that this decision was 
intentional because, for rooms with infants or children under the age of two, each room 
must have two exit points.  They are sticking with 2-5-year-olds because the state only 
requires one exit per room for those ages. 
 



Karen asked, with it being in an urban area, if there were any safety concerns being that 
close to the thoroughfare (College Avenue).  Nicole indicated that there is not a fence 
but they can put a fence in the back of the property, and they would not have the 
children in the front area of the property.  Additionally, Nicole emphasized they would 
operate under the registered ministry designation which has different standards than a 
licensed center.  Therefore, they aren’t required to have a huge playground area, per 
the state’s requirement.  Nicole mentioned Smart Sprouts would have an area in the 
back that they would block off so kids can still go outside. 
 
Rich asked if there was a designated area behind the building for play, as it appears to 
just be pavement.  Nicole answered that they would create a playground in the back, 
even with the pavement, by putting different surfaces down to make this child friendly. 
 
Bo asked if Smart Sprouts was currently operating in this space.  Nicole indicated they 
are not yet operating in this space.  Bo shared he believes it should be a rezone and not 
a special exception.  Bo indicated he would be really interested to see what the 
Metropolitan Board says about this.  Bo informed Nicole he has significant concerns 
with 35-40 children with no significant outdoor space.  Bo added there is precedent in 
the village where a yard could be fenced off, but emphasized it is not currently fenced 
with this property.  Additionally, with the neighbors having a multifamily dwelling just 
south of the property, and with no clearly defined way to drop off and pick up, it seems 
that a special exception of a D-7 zoning to allow for a daycare center seems like a 
bridge too far.  Bo acknowledged he is interested to hear what other LUD committee 
members have to say.  Bo underlined that he loves the idea, but a lot of it is conceptual.  
Nicole emphasized that everything is conceptual until it’s done.  She noted that plans 
have been made and everything has been mapped out.  Nicole stated that the safety 
and security of the children is the most important thing, and that Smart Sprouts would 
not be pursuing this location if they believed it would be unsafe for the children.  Nicole 
indicated that they would not put all the children outside at the same time, and groups 
would be separated by age.  The two-year-olds would not play outside at the same time 
as the five-year-olds.  Nicole informed the LUD that the state has very strict standards 
around safety, and if they were doing something that was believed to be a bridge too far, 
the state would come in and ensure they are doing everything for the health and safety 
of the children.  Nicole emphasized that, again, everything is conceptual until it’s been 
implemented into practice.  Nicole also shared that their home daycare is already in 
practice. 
 
Bo asked if Nicole had any drawings associated with where playgrounds or fences 
would go.  Nicole indicated she may not have sent that, but she has documentation 
from a surveyor and is happy to send that information to the LUD.  Bo said that would 
be very helpful for the group to have.  Bo underlined that some of the greatest new 
businesses in the community have been daycare centers, so Bo is rooting for Nicole in 
a big way.  Bo emphasized that having the surveyor information would be key. 
 
Sam asked what the overall timeline is for everything, including obtaining their license.  
Nicole shared they had a hearing date with the zoning committee in October, but it was 



pushed back so Smart Sprouts could appear before the LUD.  Nicole confirmed their 
next hearing date is scheduled for November 18.  If all that goes well and everything is 
approved, they would just need to finish out the internal build.  Nicole said that the great 
thing about the space is most of the necessary changes are cosmetic.  Smart Sprouts 
wants to have the state out by January.  Assuming Smart Sprouts passes an inspection 
in January, which Nicole expects will occur on the first visit, they would open in late 
January at the latest. 
 
Daisy stated Broad Ripple can always use a new daycare, as she always hears about 
young families moving out of this area to get more space and more amenities so 
keeping a strong daycare in the village would be great.  Daisy noted it sounds like 
Nicole has creative solutions for drop-off.  Daisy echoed some of the safety concerns 
from her colleagues, but noted it sounds like daycare centers are really well regulated.  
Daisy asked if Nicole could elaborate on some of the differences in standards that were 
noted earlier.  Nicole shared that there are licensed centers, registered ministries and 
home daycares.  Nicole explained some of the differences in standards between these 
three types of entities, noting that the variations are slight.  Ultimately, none of the 
differing standards take away from the safety of the children. 
 
Rebecca echoed it is great that Nicole is going into this as there is a huge need for this 
in Broad Ripple.  Rebecca stated that Smart Sprouts has a lot of things going for it and 
there are a lot of great plans.  Rebecca asked about the long-term plans as it relates to 
Smart Sprouts, including whether Smart Sprouts would stay in Broad Ripple if they were 
to outgrow the proposed location.  Nicole answered that, if they grow, they would not 
move out of Broad Ripple and they would just look to adopt more locations.  Nicole also 
indicated, due to the beauty of the model they have with Smar Sprouts, they would 
explore opening a licensed center, or identifying individuals who want to operate a home 
daycare under Smart Sprouts and still be in the area.  Nicole underlined that their 
current model allows them to grow but still stay in Broad Ripple. 
 
Anthony congratulated Nicole on securing her venue and noted that her business is a 
great idea that will be fabulous for early development and learning.  Anthony asked for 
confirmation that they were operating in another location, which Nicole confirmed.  
Anthony stated he noticed a lot of funding cuts were occurring relative to daycare 
facilities and asked if that has impacted them and, in the new location, would they be 
receiving funding and what kind of funding.  Nicole shared she had a lot of mentors who 
have been impacted, including a mentor whose biweekly funding went from $78k to 
$40k resulting in layoffs of several staff members.  Nicole noted that Smart Sprouts’ 
timing, fortunately for them, was good in the sense that they plan to take Child Care and 
Development Funding (CCDF).  She shared that they currently take CCDF in their 
existing location so their financial model is built around the existing rates.  Nicole also 
stated that they’ve been mindful from the beginning as it relates to funding, recognizing 
they cannot put all their eggs in one basket.  She highlighted they want to have 
affordable daycare for everybody, and that Smart Sprouts’ prices reflect that, especially 
for all they are offering for families.  Anthony stated he only asks this question because 
he wants them to stay in Broad Ripple. 



 
Bo asked if Smart Sprouts has heard from the Department of Metropolitan Development 
(DMD) about their position on this.  Nicole answered they have not heard a specific 
position from the DMD.  DMD has communicated the steps that must be taken, and 
have asked some questions, but they have not given any feedback. 
 
Bo opened it to the public for questions or comments. 
 
David Hughey asked if it was the McClain Realty building across from the new 
firehouse.  He also asked if Nicole was dead set on the current building and asked if 
they considered the big brown building nearby, which may be a better location and it 
also has better parking.  Nicole shared that this particular building is already good for 
what they’re looking for, as the layout is already there and they don’t need to tear 
anything down.  Nicole indicated that only cosmetic work is needed. 
 
Daisy asked if there was signage in front of the building.  It was confirmed that there is 
McClain Realty signage. 
 
Bo asked if Nicole was looking for a vote from the LUD this evening.  Nicole indicated 
she was hoping for a vote at this evening’s session.  Bo reminded Nicole that the LUD 
votes to support or not support.  Bo shared he would feel significantly more comfortable 
if he saw documentation relative to site plans and layout for parking, fencing, 
playgrounds, etc.  Bo reiterated that this feels like a rezone and not a special exception, 
because in a rezone all the concerns can be addressed.  If the LUD had the site maps, 
plans, etc. to accompany the special exception request and give the group a better 
picture of the plan, Bo would feel more comfortable with a vote.  Bo underlined his 
parking concerns, day-to-day operational concerns and concerns for the children.  Bo 
illustrated that he can request a vote from the LUD or a continuance to the next meeting 
to allow for the review and consideration of more information particular to this very busy 
street.   
 
Nicole asked what a continuance looks like.  She noted she has the documents from the 
surveyor which she can send over tonight.  Nicole clarified that the documents include 
site plans, not architectural drawings.  Bo asked if an architectural drawing would help 
Nicole feel more comfortable with the location.  Nicole stated she is comfortable with the 
location and she’s been reviewing this site for months.  She reemphasized that she is 
happy to share the site plans if that will help the LUD see the vision for the property. 
 
Sam asked if the city led her toward requesting a special exception as opposed to a 
rezone.  Nicole confirmed the special exception was encouraged by the city.  Bo noted 
he is concerned with what questions the city Board will ask when Nicole gets in front of 
them.  Anthony shared that there is a Montessori school on Broad Ripple Avenue where 
the playground is in front of the property, so there is precedent in the village that schools 
can live right on streets.  Bo confirmed a drawing would help.  Nicole reiterated she has 
the drawings from the surveyor.  Bo shared that the LUD always has questions about 
drop off and fencing, among other things.  Nicole agreed that those plans are necessary 



anywhere and they are not specific to this property.  She noted they are being very 
intentional with these plans.  Nicole shared they will use the BrightWheel app which 
includes QR coding for drop-offs and pick-ups.  Nicole was asked if the drop off and pick 
up plan goes through the state.  Nicole informed the room that the physical logistics 
(driving and parking) relative to drop off and pick up is one aspect that does not need to 
be approved by the state.  Nicole confirmed she doesn’t want anyone to be sitting on 
College Avenue waiting to try to turn into the facility. 
 
Andrew asked if Nicole had any thoughts on signage.  Nicole asked for clarification.  
Andrew noted there is currently a giant sign that is spray painted over.  Nicole indicated 
they would want to put a sign out front that said Smart Sprouts.  Nicole shared there 
used to be a sign on the door and they would put one there as well.  Right now, there is 
a small banner on the railing that lets people know they plan to open soon.  The sign 
includes a QR code.  Smart Sprouts have had some parents already submit inquiries 
and pre-enroll in the daycare.   
 
Bo asked for any additional comments from the room. 
 
Karen reiterated concerns with the parking and drop-off plans because it is a small area.  
It was noted that the alley is in good shape, but with College Avenue being right there, 
and drop-off and pickup times being in conjunction with rush hour, she could see that 
causing issues.  Karen shared it’s not impossible to make that work, but she has 
concerns about that aspect of the operation, especially since it’s a shared parking lot 
and Smart Sprouts will not have control over the entire lot.  Karen emphasized the 
importance of having additional detail about that specific operation and what would be 
implemented to keep things moving and not have backups on College Avenue or have 
any safety issues between vehicles and pedestrians. 
 
Bo offered to meet with Nicole to continue the discussions.  Bo indicated some 
frustration with the city as he believes she should be further down the road with this 
than where she currently is.  It was noted that the LUD committee is discussing if this is 
a rezone or a special exception.  Bo requested additional detail surrounding her 
communication with the city so the LUD could better understand the history surrounding 
the special exception as opposed to the rezone.  Bo expressed he did not want to give 
Smart Sprouts a letter of support today and see the city change some things regarding 
how this project is classified.  Bo emphasized that he does not want this project to have 
any stoppages and understanding the history with the city will help the LUD.  Bo 
summarized that he doesn’t have enough information to support the request as is nor 
does he have confidence that it will get where Smart Sprouts needs to go to get the 
state’s support.  Ultimately, Nicole could request a vote from the LUD this evening and 
see how everyone votes.  Or, Nicole could request a continuance to get on the agenda 
for next month where she could be armed with additional information. 
 
Nicole appreciated the idea and the offer to meet to discuss.  She shared that the 
challenge is the timing given the next LUD meeting is after her hearing with the city.  Bo 
offered to call a special meeting to expedite the vote so, if the LUD supports the 



request, she has her letter of support in advance of the city meeting.  Nicole 
reemphasized that the timing is a big concern as time is money.  She noted she is open 
to meeting with Bo to hear advice and suggestions about the process, politics, and other 
miscellaneous items, but she confirmed her desire to attend her meeting with the city on 
November 18 with a vote from the LUD.  Bo confirmed his interpretation that Nicole will 
not be requesting a vote tonight and will accept his offer to meet in advance of the LUD 
committee reconvening to reconsider the request.  Nicole confirmed. 
 
Garrett offered some context for the parcel for informational purposes.  The property, 
while zoned for high-density multifamily uses, has been used for commercial purposes 
for 30-40 years.  It used to be multi-tenant.  It does have an office variance on it.  
Garrett believes the city went the special exception route as that’s the lightest of the 
zoning changes (special exception, variance, rezone) and they are probably open to this 
very narrow exception of use as opposed to the possibility of an entire rezone.  Bo 
appreciated the context.   
 
Rich asked if the special meeting could be zone via Zoom.  Bo confirmed this could 
happen. 
 
Andrew commented if getting together offline helps ensure the full support of the LUD, 
and if they believe that doing that is going to be successful and it won’t delay her time, 
that might be worth exploring.  Andrew believes this concept is unique and different but 
is hearing valid concerns within the LUD committee and believes, if a special session 
would help, the LUD should explore that.  Bo agreed that this situation is very unique 
and agrees the importance of avoiding missing the November date.  Bo reminded 
Nicole that ultimately, she can call for a vote tonight and the LUD may ultimately support 
the special exception and the parking lot variance and everyone can move on.  Nicole 
indicated that, in an ideal world, she would receive a vote of support tonight but still 
receive the advice and information from Bo during a later meeting. 
 
Karen noted she would support delaying the vote tonight with the intent to support after 
learning more information from Nicole.  Anthony shared that, part of the reason he 
asked the questions about the state regulations, is because of the importance of plans 
surrounding drop off and pickup.    
 
Bo offered a last call for Nicole to determine if she wants to call for a vote tonight or give 
it two more weeks for additional information that provides for the potential for a better 
outcome.  Bo indicated he would not support the request with the information he has at 
this time but underlined the goal of the LUD to support new business in the village. 
 
Nicole asked if a call for a vote tonight would negate a special session in a couple 
weeks.  Bo shared that if a vote is called for tonight, the results of the vote would be 
recorded in a letter of support or not support, and the letter would be shared with the 
city.   
 



Nicole asked for confirmation from the LUD that the two main points of emphasis, which 
the committee needs more information on, are the fencing in the back and drop-off and 
pickup.  Bo confirmed it was the logistics surrounding drop-off and pick up, housing up 
to 40 children, and the fencing in the back and the safety of the children due to the 
proximity to College Avenue.  Nicole reiterated that the state will regulate everything so 
they will only be given permission to house whatever number the state determines is 
safe and permissible.  Nicole shared they will be happy to outline the exact plans for 
parking, pickup and drop-off and fencing. 
 
Nicole informed the group she wished she would have known a little more about what 
the LUD was expecting to hear and see when considering her request.  She 
emphasized Smart Sprouts is already planning and preparing the requested information 
for the city, and she could have had the information ready for the LUD this evening.  Bo 
agreed it would be more helpful for the LUD and BRVA administration to provide 
additional detail to petitioners about what the LUD expects to see as far as information 
and plans. 
 
Brian indicated the group has debated plenty and a decision should be made about 
whether they will vote tonight or continue the request to a special session.  Nicole 
shared she would like to continue it with the intention of keeping her November 18 
meeting with the city.  Bo indicated he would keep the group posted of his conversations 
with Nicole before a special session.  Bo thanked Nicole for her time. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 7:12 p.m. 


